STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Oct 20 2020

S.C. SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to Edgefield County

The Honorable William P. Keesley, Trial Judge
The Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000568

BRYAN J. PHILLIPS,

Respondent,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

TAYLOR ZANE SMITH
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103282

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-0904

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

ISSUES ON CERTIORARI

- I. Did the PCR court err in finding trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for not objecting to the trial court's qualification of the court interpreter under the interpreter qualification statute used in criminal cases when the interpreter was qualified to interpret under either qualification scheme and when Phillips did not prove there is a reasonable probability the outcome of trial would have been different had trial counsel raised that particular objection?

- II. Did the PCR court err in finding trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to hire a defense interpreter when trial counsel conducted a reasonable search for a court interpreter but was unsuccessful due to the scarcity of Chinese interpreters and when Phillips did not prove there is a reasonable probability the outcome of trial have been different had trial counsel hired a defense interpreter?

- III. Did the PCR court err in finding trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for calling Investigator Young as a witness when the witness's testimony confirmed the person who pointed out Phillips to law enforcement was motivated by a hope for personal gain and when Phillips did not prove there is a reasonable probability the outcome of trial would have been different had Young not testified?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Bryan J. Phillips is presently incarcerated in the South Carolina Department of Corrections. During its September of 2008 term, the Edgefield County Grand Jury indicted Phillips for criminal conspiracy (2008-GS-19-541). During its December of 2008 term, the Grand Jury indicted Phillips for armed robbery (2008-GS-19-723). During its May of 2010 term, the Grand Jury indicted Phillips for first-degree burglary (2010-GS-19-274) and kidnapping (2010-GS-19-277). Phillips was represented by Randall D. Williams (“trial counsel”), Esquire, and Assistant Solicitor Ervin J. Maye of the Eleventh Circuit Solicitor’s Office prosecuted the case. Before the case was called to trial, trial counsel filed a motion for a speedy trial, arguing the charges against Phillips should be dismissed since he had been in detention for about twenty months or else that Phillips be released on bond pending trial. At On May 17, 2010, Phillips and Langford appeared before the Honorable William P. Keesley for a hearing on their motions. The assistant solicitor argued he had been planning to begin the trial for Langford and Phillips on that date, but was not prepared to do so because a witness for the State had just recanted his earlier statements implicating Langford and Phillips under pressure from them and because the State had been unable to locate a court interpreter in South Carolina who could interpret English and Chinese. App. 658. Judge Keesley later denied Phillip’s motion to dismiss the charges due to a violation of his right to a speedy trial, granted his motion for a speedy trial, and denied his motion for bond with leave for review if he were not tried promptly. On January 23, 2011, Phillips and K. C. Langford, III, proceeded to a jury trial with Judge Keesley presiding. The jury convicted Phillips as indicted.¹ The trial court sentenced Phillips to imprisonment for twenty

¹ The jury also found Langford guilty of the same offenses as Phillips. App. 601-02.

years for kidnapping, for armed robbery, and for first-degree burglary, and for five years for conspiracy, with all sentences running concurrently, with credit for time served, and found that Phillips was not required to register as a sex offender.

Trial counsel filed a timely notice of appeal. Applicant was represented on appeal by Appellate Defender LaNelle Cantey Durant (“appellate counsel”) of the South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense. In an order issued on November 3, 2011, the Supreme Court of South Carolina granted Phillips’ motions to have his appeal certified to the Court, to have his appeal consolidated with Langford’s, and to have an amicus curiae brief of the South Carolina Public Defender Association (“Public Defender Association”) incorporated into his appeal. Appellate counsel argued the trial court erred (1) in denying Phillips’ motion for a mistrial after the assistant solicitor commented on Phillips’ not taking the stand in his own defense, (2) in qualifying in Chinese and Mandarin Chinese the interpreter, and (3) in denying Phillips’ motion to dismiss the case due to the State’s violation of Phillips’ speedy trial rights. The Public Defender Association argued the trial court erred in denying Langford’s motion to dismiss because Langford’s right to a speedy trial was violated. The South Carolina Solicitor’s Association also filed an amicus curiae brief arguing the statute vesting the circuit solicitors with the obligation to prepare dockets for general sessions terms of court does not violate the separation of powers or the due process provisions of the South Carolina and United States Constitutions. The South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed Phillips’ convictions and sentences in an unpublished memorandum opinion. State v. Phillips, Op. No. 2012-MO-049 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed November 21, 2012) (per curiam). The Supreme Court found the trial court did not err in qualifying the interpreter and that the assistant solicitor’s comment at trial was not actually a

comment upon Phillips' failure to testify. Id. The Supreme Court also incorporated by reference findings in its opinion in Langford's appeal that the statute vesting in the circuit solicitors the exclusive obligation to prepare general sessions dockets was unconstitutional, that there was no evidence Langford's due process were violated even if the State was able to pick the judge who would preside over trial, that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding Langford "was not denied a speedy trial in the constitutional sense." Id. (citing State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421-46, 432, 735 S.E.2d 471, 477-84 (2012), cert. denied, Langford v. South Carolina, 571 U.S. 831, 134 S.Ct. 60 (Mem) (2013)). In an order issued on December 20, 2012, the South Carolina Supreme Court denied Phillips' petition for rehearing. The remittitur was issued on December 20, 2012.

Phillips then petitioned the United States Supreme Court for a writ of certiorari, arguing the South Carolina Supreme Court erred in finding Phillips' due process right to a speedy trial was not violated. The United States Supreme Court denied Phillips' petition on October 7, 2013.

On December 19, 2013, Phillips filed an application for post-conviction relief, and filed multiple amendments over the subsequent months. Petitioner filed its return on May 4, 2015, requesting the courts convene an evidentiary hearing. On December 13, 2017, an evidentiary hearing was convened before the PCR court. Phillips was physically present and was represented by Arthur K. Aiken, Esquire. Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General Melody J. Brown and Senior Assistant Attorney General Alphonso Simon, Jr., both of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, represented Petitioner. On May 25, 2018, the PCR court issued its order granting post-conviction relief to Phillips. On June 19, 2018, Petitioner filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment, pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRPC, arguing the PCR court erred in all of its

deficiency and prejudice findings. On June 21, 2019, Phillips filed a memorandum in opposition to the motion. On November 18, 2019, the PCR court issued an order denying Petitioner's motion to alter or amend the judgment, and this appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Alvin Phillips and Phillips noticed several people leaving a Chinese restaurant and believed that the people were taking home with them money from the restaurant. App. 242-43. Alvin and Phillips knew where the people lived and watched them take home a black bag, and noticed that the people never made a trip to the bank after leaving the restaurant. App. 243. Alvin and Phillips discussed robbing the people at their home after they left the restaurant. App. 243-44. On August 14, 2008, Phillips called Alvin about their plans. Alvin got his gun and, along with codefendant K. C. Langford, changed into dark clothing. The three men waited at the victims' home for them to arrive from the restaurant. App. 243-47.

When the victims arrived at their home, the father stayed outside while his son and wife went inside. The three robbers jumped out of the bushes near the house and ordered the father to the ground. The robbers demanded money from the father, but could not understand what he was saying; he spoke only Chinese. App. 248-49. Alvin pointed his firearm at the man. App. 203. The son came out of his house to discover the robbers holding his father. App. 203-04, 216, 249. The robbers demanded money from the son, too. He directed them to the black bag, containing approximately \$3,000, which he had placed in the house. App. 215, 217. Langford took the bag out of the house. App. 250-51. The robbers fled and returned to Phillips' house to divvy the money. App. 250-53.

Investigator Roosevelt Young received information from John Stevens indicating Phillips, Alvin, and Langford were the robbers law enforcement officers were looking for. App. 388-89. Alvin voluntarily submitted himself to questioning at law enforcement's request. App. 395-96. Alvin went on to give a statement that implicated himself and his two codefendants Phillips and Langford. While the three codefendants were in the Edgefield County Detention Center, Langford asked Alvin to sign a pre-written statement that Langford and Phillips were not guilty, which contradicted Alvin's earlier statement. App. 294-95.

Langford and Phillips were called to trial on September 7, 2010. Because the victims were Chinese and did not speak English, the parties and Judge Keesley extensively questioned an interpreter named Ming Louie. Judge Keesley qualified Louie over Phillips' objection to the Louie's qualifications. The victims testified about the events of the robbery, and Alvin testified about his, Langford's, and Phillips' involvement in the crimes. He explained his later statements by testifying Langford pressured him into recanting his earlier statement. App. 280-81.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for post-conviction relief matters depends on the specific issues before the appellate court. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018). When reviewing factual findings, the appellate courts defer to the post-conviction relief court's factual findings and will uphold them if there is probative evidence in the record to support them. Buckson v. State, 423 S.C. 313, 320, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018); Smalls, at 180-81, 810 S.E.2d at 839-40 (citations omitted). However, pure questions of law will be reviewed de novo without deference to the lower court. Id. Appellate courts will reverse the decision of the post-conviction

relief court when it is controlled by an error of law. Goins v. State, 397 S.C. 568, 573, 726 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2012).

ARGUMENT

- I. The PCR court erred in finding trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for not objecting to the trial court’s qualification of the interpreter under the interpreter qualification statute used in civil cases because Ming Louie was qualified to be a court interpreter under either qualification scheme and Phillips did not prove there is a reasonable probability the outcome of trial would have been different had trial counsel raised that particular objection.**

The PCR court found trial counsel’s performance was deficient because he did not preserve for appellate review an objection to the trial court’s use of the civil statute in qualifying the interpreter, objecting only to the qualifications of the interpreter in general. App. 1515. Without providing any analysis, the PCR court found there is a reasonable probability the outcome of the proceedings would have been different had trial counsel raised the specific objection. App. 1517. The PCR court erred because Phillips did not prove that trial counsel’s performance was deficient when he clearly objected to the qualification of Louie as an interpreter despite not specifically referring to the qualification statute for use in criminal cases. Phillips did not prove that there would be any difference in the outcome of trial if trial counsel had objected to the use of the civil statute over the criminal one because Louie was qualified even under the criminal statute and because Phillips has offered no evidence that Louie’s interpretation during trial fell short of the criminal statute’s requirements or that the interpretation was erroneous in any way. Phillips’ claim and the PCR court’s grant of post-conviction relief are purely and wildly speculative.

When a witness or victim in a criminal trial does not understand or speak English sufficiently to comprehend the proceeding or testify, “the court must appoint a certified or

otherwise qualified interpreter to interpret the proceedings to the . . . victim or to interpret the testimony of the witness.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-1-50(B)(1). A “qualified interpreter” is one who is at least eighteen years of age, is not a family member to a party or witness, is not confined to an institution, and:

[H]as education, training, or experience that enables him to speak English and a foreign language fluently, and is readily able to interpret simultaneously and consecutively and to sight-translate documents from English into the language of a non-English-speaking person, or from the language of that person into spoken English.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-1-50(A)(4). In this case, Ming Louie was duly sworn and questioned about his qualifications as an interpreter. App. 134. He was sixty-one years of age at the time of Phillips’ trial. App. 139. He was not related to the victims in any way, did not have any interest in the outcome of the trial, and did not know either Phillips or Langford. App. 132-33, 145. Louie was not confined to an institution. App. 148. Louie did not have a certification as a Mandarin or Cantonese Chinese interpretation in any state or in the federal courts. App. 135-37. Louie did not believe that South Carolina Court Administration offered a certification for an interpreter in Mandarin or Cantonese Chinese, and neither did the clerk of court. App. 136, 149. Louie had, however, served as an interpreter in court on more than fifty occasions in the state courts of North Carolina, Maryland, and Delaware. App. 137-38, 141, 146. Louie had earned a master’s degree in chemistry from Penn State University and had been living in the United States for approximately forty years. App. 139-40. He was born in Canton, China; as he lived there for about twenty years, he learned Cantonese Chinese, the regional dialect, and Mandarin Chinese, the national dialect. App. 139-40. He had been serving as a Chinese-English interpreter in American courts since 1996. App. 140. He had always been found qualified as a court interpreter by whatever court he was before. App. 141. Louie felt he was fluent in Chinese and English.

App. 145. He had the ability to translate a document into English from Chinese. App. 147. Louie recognized the victims' dialect as that of Mandarin Chinese, and he did not have any difficulty in communicating with them. App. 138, 142. Louie affirmed that he would not have any difficulty interpreting the victims' testimony into English and the questions from English back into Chinese for them, and affirmed he would translate accurately and truthfully. App. 138-39. Louie affirmed that the victims did not have difficulty in communicating with him. App. 142.

After the parties and the trial court questioned Louie extensively, the trial court found Louie qualified as a Chinese-English interpreter over Phillips' objection. App. 154. The trial court noted Louie was "highly qualified," had advanced degrees earned in the United States indicating his fluency in English, spoke two dialects of Chinese as his native tongue, and was able to communicate fluently with the parties and the court. App. 155-56. The trial court referred to the interpreter qualification statute for civil cases, which defines an "interpreter" as one who:

- (1) is eight years of age or older;
- (2) is not a family member of the party or witness;
- (3) is an instructor of foreign language at an institution of education; or
- (4) has educational training or experience that enables him or her to fluently speak a foreign language and interpret the language of another person.

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-27-155(B). The qualification requirements of the two statutes are quite similar. The South Carolina Supreme Court found the trial court did not abuse its discretion in qualifying Louie as an interpreter while noting that the trial court and parties referenced the civil statute, not the criminal statute. App. 1308.

The PCR court erred in finding trial counsel performed deficiently by not objecting to the qualification of Louie on the basis that the trial court had cited the statute for qualifying interpreters in civil cases. Louie was of the requisite age; was not related to the victims, witnesses, or parties; was not confined to an institution; and had the education and experience to

allow him to speak English and Chinese fluently, to be readily able to interpret simultaneously and consecutively and to sight-translate documents from English into Chinese or from Chinese into spoken English. By all indications, Louie met the statutory qualifications to be an interpreter for Phillips' trial. No matter which interpreter qualification statute the trial court had used, Louie should have been qualified.

The PCR court erred in finding there is a reasonable likelihood the outcome of the proceedings would have been different had trial counsel objected to the trial court's use of the statute for interpreter qualification in civil cases. Phillips did not prove Louie would have been unqualified if the trial court had cited the criminal statute instead of the civil. Phillips did not offer any evidence Louie lacked the education and experience required for him to speak English and Chinese fluently, simultaneously, and consecutively, or to translate documents from one language to the other. Phillips did not offer any evidence Louie's interpretation at trial was inaccurate. Instead, Phillips merely speculated that he would have been found not guilty had the criminal qualification statute been cited. An applicant for post-conviction relief who provides only speculation as to what may have happened if his defense attorney had done something differently has failed to meet his burden. Briggs v. State, 421 S.C. 316, 333, 806 S.E.2d 713, 722 (2017) (instructing that an applicant for post-conviction relief "must demonstrate a 'reasonable probability' the result of the trial would have been different if [trial counsel] had not committed the errors A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial."); Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 695-96 (1984) (requiring a court conducting a prejudice inquiry to ask "if the defendant has met the burden of showing that the decision reached would reasonably likely have been different absent the errors."); see

Moorehead v. State, 329 S.C. 329, 334, 496 S.E.2d 415, 417 (1998) (A defense attorney’s “[f]ailure to conduct an independent investigation does not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel when the allegation is supported only by mere speculation as to the result.”) (citing Kibler v. State, 267 S.C. 250, 227 S.E.2d 199 (1976)). The PCR court’s adoption of Phillips’ pure speculation is an error of law.

This Court should grant the petition for a writ of certiorari in order to review the PCR court’s finding trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for not objecting to the qualification of the interpreter on the basis that the trial court was citing the statute for qualifying interpreters in civil cases instead of the statute for qualifying interpreters in criminal cases. This Court should review the PCR court’s grant of relief to Phillips because Phillips has failed to prove that Judge Keesley’s interpretation affected the outcome of trial in any respect.

II. The PCR court erred in finding trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective for failing to hire a defense interpreter because trial counsel conducted a reasonable search for a court interpreter but was unsuccessful due to the scarcity of Chinese interpreters and because Phillips did not prove there is a reasonable probability the outcome of trial would have been different with a defense interpreter.

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