STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Mar 05 2021

Certiorari to Edgefield County

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Honorable William P. Keesley, Circuit Court Judge

BRYAN J. PHILLIPS,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000568

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

Phillips’ appellate counsel raised the objection to Louie’s qualification as the second issue on appeal. App. 1177. The brief only cited to section 15-27-155, the same section briefly

referenced by the trial judge. App. 1185. The State's brief questioned whether the issue was preserved for appeal "in light of the very generic objection raised at trial." App. 1208. The State also only cited section 15-27-155. App. 1208-11

As this Court pointed out when it decided Phillips' direct appeal, section 15-27-155 was the wrong statute. App. 1308, n. 1. The correct statute was the interpreter statute that applied specifically to criminal cases. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-1-50 (setting forth procedures for interpreters in criminal actions). Phillips' appellate counsel testified at the PCR hearing that she looked at section 17-1-50, but did not raise this statute in her brief because it was not preserved. App. 1434, l. 7 – 1435, l. 22. The law of issue preservation limited her to raising the qualification issue under the civil statute used by the parties at trial. App. 1434, l. 7 – 1435, l. 22. Had the issue been preserved under the criminal statute, she would have raised it as her first and best issue. App. 1435, l. 16 – 1436, l. 5.

At the PCR hearing, when asked about the judge's error in using the civil interpreter statute, trial counsel admitted he "did not object to it specifically." App. 1478, l. 11 – 1479, l. 12. When asked if his objection would preserve the issue for appellate review, trial counsel stated, "we would hope that we would do it perfectly and I indicate to you that I didn't do it perfectly." App. 1479, l. 18 – 21. PCR counsel asked, that without the victim's "testimony there's no evidence of even a crime, right?" App. 1481, l. 15 – 20. Trial counsel replied, "This is true." App. 1481, l. 19 – 21. Trial counsel also admitted that he could have secured funding to hire a defense interpreter, but failed to do so. App. 1486, l. 22 – 1489, l. 5. A defense interpreter could have told trial counsel what Louie said to the witnesses during their improper conversations for which Louie was admonished by the trial judge. App. 1486, l. 22 – 1489, l. 9.

The PCR court correctly held that trial counsel performed deficiently by not objecting to the interpreter’s qualification under the wrong statute and not obtaining a defense interpreter. App. 1515-19. Failure to preserve an issue for appellate review is deficient performance. Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 590, 518 S.E.2d 265, 267 (1999) (holding trial counsel deficient for failing to make a proper objection on the record and failing to preserve issue for appeal). Allowing Louie to have off-the-record, unknowable (because of the lack of a defense interpreter) conversations with the witnesses during the trial was also deficient performance.

The PCR court’s finding of prejudice is also supported by the evidence at the hearing. The PCR court credited the testimony of appellate counsel that had the issue been preserved, it would have been raised as her first and best issue. This finding is entitled to deference on appeal under the strict standard of review. “An appellate court must give deference to the PCR court’s factual findings, and must uphold them if there is any evidence of probative value to support them.” Buckson v. State, 423 S.C. 313, 320, 815 S.E.2d 436, 440 (2018). “Under the proper standard of review, the appellate court’s “view” must be limited to whether there is probative evidence to support the PCR court’s factual findings.” Id. Further, the court held that the crucial difference between the two statutes—that in a criminal case the interpreter must be able to readily interpret simultaneously and consecutively—likely would have led to reversal because of Louie’s failures during the trial. The PCR court correctly granted relief on this issue and certiorari should be denied.

State's Issue 3

Evidence supports the PCR court's conclusion that trial counsel's unreasonable strategy of eliciting incriminating hearsay providing a separate connection of the defendant to the crime from a police officer called as a defense witness prejudiced respondent.

The State's key witness at trial was Phillips' third co-defendant, Alvin Phillips ("Alvin"). With a crucial mistake, trial counsel undid the successful discrediting of Alvin as a liar and gifted the State with evidence from a "good citizen" linking Phillips and Langford to the robbery. The PCR court correctly granted relief on this issue.

None of the victims could identify the men who robbed them, therefore the State's case rested on Alvin's testimony. App. 181, l. 16 – 24. Alvin and Phillips are first cousins. App. 238, l. 25 – 239, l. 2. Langford had a child with Alvin's sister. App. 239, l. 15 – 24. Alvin had been to the victims' restaurant and knew their house was within "easy walking distance" from where Phillips lived. App. 240, l. 18 – 241, l. 9.

On direct, Alvin testified that he and Phillips had seen the victims coming and going between their house and their restaurant. App. 242, l. 10 – 16. They believed they were transporting their money from the restaurant on these trips and had noticed they did not go to the bank after work. App. 242, l. 17 – 243, l. 7. Alvin and Phillips began discussing a robbery about a month before the crime took place. App. 243, l. 8 – 244, l. 6.

On the night of the robbery, Phillips called Alvin and Alvin got his gun and ski mask. App. 244, l. 11 – 245, l. 16. They met on the front porch and Langford said we would come, too. App. 245, l. 24 – 246, l. 14. The three men went to the victims' house between 10:00 and 10:30 PM. App. 246, l. 20 – 247, l. 5. They hid in the bushes and waited for the victims. App. 248, l. 8 – 23.

When a man arrived, Alvin jumped out of the bushes with his gun and made him get on the ground. App. 249, l. 2 – 10. They demanded money, but could not understand the man. App. 249, l. 11 – 22. Phillips hit a man in the back of the head. App. 250, l. 2 – 10. Langford went behind the house and when he returned, he had the victims' black money bag. App. 250, l. 14 – 251, l. 9. The men ran back to Phillips' house and split up the money in the bag. App. 251, l. 10 – 253, l. 12. Phillips pled guilty to this armed robbery, but claimed he was not promised anything for his testimony. App. 258, l. 19 – 259, l. 19.

Alvin was discredited on cross-examination. Langford's attorney cross-examined Alvin first. App. 267, l. 21 – 25. He pointed out that while Alvin had pled guilty to armed robbery, he still had five other serious charges, including kidnapping and first-degree burglary, outstanding. App. 267, l. 21 – 268, l. 19. Alvin admitted he was hoping that after the trial, these other charges would be dismissed. App. 268, l. 20 – 269, l. 5. Alvin had not yet been sentenced on the armed robbery conviction. App. 270, l. 8 – 14. Alvin had prior convictions for shoplifting and larceny. App. 269, l. 17 – 22.

Langford's lawyer pointed out the contradiction between Alvin claiming he held the gun, but that someone else hit a victim with the pistol. App. 272, l. 12 – 273, l. 8. Alvin admitted that when the case was first called for trial, Alvin refused to testify. App. 275, l. 17 – 276, l. 10. Alvin signed a statement in March 2009 saying that Langford and Phillips were not guilty. App. 276, l. 11 – 15. He admitted saying that his statement to police implicating Langford and Phillips was false. App. 276, l. 16 – 19.

Phillips' attorney further cross-examined Alvin on his statement exonerating Phillips and Langford. App. 280, l. 7 – 282, l. 8. He also showed Alvin a statement he made exonerating Langford and Phillips in January 2009, which Alvin admitted signing. App. 280, l. 7 – 282, l. 8.

Alvin said in his March 2009 statement that he “was not in my right state of mind” when he implicated Phillips and Langford. App. 280, l. 7 – 282, l. 8. Alvin said his prior statement was “false.” App. 280, l. 7 – 282, l. 8. Alvin admitted hoping for only a “small amount of time” and that he had rehearsed his testimony with the solicitor. App. 290, l. 1 – 18. On redirect, Alvin said Langford brought him the statements to sign and claimed they were false. App. 294, l. 10 – 296, l. 1. Alvin denied being pressured to sign them. App. 296, l. 2 – 4.

After the State rested, Phillips’ trial counsel told the court that he intended to call a witness, Joseph Patrick Stevens, but had been informed that Stevens was in California. App. 374, l. 3 – 19. Trial counsel believed Stevens was still in South Carolina. App. 374, l. 7 – 19. Stevens was under subpoena. App. 375, l. 2 – 5. Judge Keesley asked the sheriff to help locate Stevens. App. 375, l. 7 – 11. Trial counsel also stated that he had “an alternative remedy” of calling police officer Roosevelt Young. App. 374, l. 20 – 375, l. 1. When the court returned from a recess, the judge said that Young was on his way, but that the police were still tracking down Stevens. App. 375, l. 19 – 25. The judge excused the jury for lunch. App. 376, l. 7 – 25.

After the lunch recess, Phillips’ trial counsel undid all of the good work discrediting the Alvin by calling Officer Young as the first witness in his defense case. App. 383, l. 18 – 20. Phillips asked Young if he knew Stevens and knew about the current case and Young agreed he did. App. 386, l. 1 – 5. Trial counsel then asked if Stevens was working as an informant for Young or had ever worked as an informant for Young, but Young denied this. App. 388, l. 6 – 18. Young denied that Stevens worked as an informant for another officer. App. 389, l. 21 – 23.

Young described Stevens as “an acquaintance.” App. 388, l. 19 – 20. Trial counsel inexplicably asked whether Young considered Stevens a “good citizen” and Young replied,

“Yes, sir.” App. 389, l. 12 – 14. Young admitted that Stevens had been in the courthouse, but denied ever arresting him. App. 389, l. 15 – 18.

According to Young, Stevens had a family court bench warrant and called Young “and started giving me information about” the robbery. App. 389, l. 19 – 23. Young admitted Stevens sought him out for help with his legal problem, but said he could give him no help. App. 389, l. 24 – 390, l. 8. Trial counsel asked whether Stevens gave Young the names of “three individuals” and then had Young confirm that those three were Phillips, Langford, and Alvin. App. 390, l. 9 – 20. He confirmed with Young that Stevens had an association with these men and Young said they were somehow related. App. 391, l. 24 – 392, l. 3. When trial counsel asked whether Stevens called “out of the goodness of” his heart, Young replied, “Yes, sir.” App. 393, l. 7 – 16.

On cross, the solicitor tied Stevens to the defendants through Veronica Phillips, a name mentioned by trial counsel. App. 392, l. 4 – 8. App. 396, l. 16 – 19. The solicitor confirmed that Young had no power or influence over Stevens’ legal troubles. App. 395, l. 3 – 396, l. 2. He asked Young, “And Joseph Patrick Stevens gives you the information that solves this case; isn’t that correct?” App. 399, l. 23 – 25. Officer Young replied, “Yes, sir.” App. 400, l. 1.

In trial counsel’s closing, he told the jury that Officer Young was “a very good witness” and that he could not “really shake him” on his assertion that Stevens was being “a good samaritan,” but invited the jury to use their common sense and ask if that was what really happened. App. 470, l. 18 – 471, l. 9. Solicitor Maye made full use of the testimony about Stevens. Tr. 492, l. 16 – 493, l. 15. He said it made no difference what Stevens’ motivation was when he called Young and gave him “accurate information.” App. 492, l. 16 – 24.

The solicitor used Stevens' hearsay statements to Young to bolster Alvin's credibility. App. 493, l. 6 – 15. He described bringing in Alvin to the police station for a statement and then said, "And [lo] and behold who does he say are the three people that are involved? Exactly the same thing that Stevens says, K.C. Langford, Bryan Jordan Phillips and Alvin Phillips." App. 493, l. 6 – 15.

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel explained his strategy for calling Officer Young. App. 1471, l.16 -1474, l. 6. App. 1490, l. 15 – 1497, l. 2. He said "we wanted to be able to show that Stevens was basically making assertions to law enforcement that were motivated by self-help or motivated by self-interest, and that was the real reason why, you know, that was pursued." App. 1471, l.16 -1474, l. 6. He wanted to "show that the person who made [Alvin] a suspect had problems of self-interest, if we could show that, then perhaps [Alvin] would be less credible in that regard as well." App. 1471, l.16 -1474, l. 6.

On cross, trial counsel first said he hoped he had done a good job of discrediting Alvin during his testimony. App. 1490, l. 15 – 1497, l. 2. He then admitted that Young's testimony about Stevens "established another connection between Bryan Phillips and the alleged crime." App. 1490, l. 15 – 1497, l. 2. Trial counsel then said Phillips "really believed that we needed to call Joseph Stevens." App. 1490, l. 15 – 1497, l. 2. He admitted that Stevens' statements to Young were hearsay. App. 1490, l. 15 – 1497, l. 2. He admitted that if the State tried to get Young's statements in, he could have kept them out by objecting on hearsay grounds. App. 1490, l. 15 – 1497, l. 2. He admitted being surprised that Officer Young denied that Stevens was an informant. App. 1490, l. 15 – 1497, l. 2.

The PCR court properly granted relief because of trial counsel's mistakes in calling Young to testify. App. 1516-18. Stevens' statements were hearsay and Young's recitation of

Stevens' statements was double hearsay and inadmissible if elicited by the State. See Rule 801(c), SCRE. The State would have had no way to get Stevens' fingering of Phillips and Langford into evidence until trial counsel gave the solicitor a gift by calling Young. Alvin had been discredited when he left the stand, but trial counsel inexplicably rehabilitated the State's case by establishing an independent connection to the crime that also bolstered Alvin's credibility. The PCR court's finding of prejudice on this point has ample support in the record and is entitled to great deference on appeal. Buckson at 320, 815 S.E.2d at 440.

The State claims that trial counsel did not perform deficiently because his trial strategy should not be second-guessed in PCR. While counsel's strategy is entitled to deference, the strategy must first be reasonable. "Counsel must articulate a **valid** reason for employing a certain strategy to avoid a finding of ineffectiveness." Ingle v. State, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002) (emphasis in original). "Where counsel articulates a strategy, it is measured under an objective standard of reasonableness." Id.

In Ingle, trial counsel's articulated strategy of asking a damaging question of a witness he had not interviewed because he relied on his client was held unreasonable. Id. Here, trial counsel asked questions about Stevens at his client's urging and was mistaken about what Officer Young would say about Stevens' status as an informant. The failure to ascertain what Young would say about Stevens was itself deficient, but the far larger unreasonable strategy was allowing any mention of Stevens in the trial at all. Also, in Ingle, trial counsel elicited damaging, inadmissible hearsay from a doctor about a victim's statements regarding a sexual assault. Id. at 472-75, 560 S.E.2d at 404-05. The Ingle Court reversed the denial of PCR. Id.

In Dawkins v. State, 346 S.C. 151, 551 S.E.2d 260 (2001), trial counsel failed to object to inadmissible hearsay statements that bolstered the victim's credibility in a criminal sexual conduct

case. Id. at 155-57, 551 S.E.2d at 262-63. Trial counsel claimed he made a strategic decision not to object. Id. The Court rejected trial counsel's claimed strategy. Id. The Court held that the failure to object and exclude inadmissible hearsay prejudiced the applicant and remanded for a new trial. Id.

The PCR court correctly granted relief on this issue. The solicitor's closing argument shows how Stevens' testimony was used to great effect to provide another link to the crime and to rehabilitate the once-discredited Alvin. Had trial counsel not called Young, the result of the trial would have been different. See Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). No reason exists to grant certiorari and the grant of PCR should be left undisturbed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State's petition for certiorari should be denied.